THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable James B. Jackson, Jr.  
Special Circuit Court Judge for Orangeburg County

---

Case No. 2012-CP-38-01314  
Appellate Case No. 2014-002402

---

Jennifer Middleton, as parent and  
GAL for Jane Doe

Appellant,

v.

Orangeburg Consolidated School  
District Three,

Respondent

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Glenn Walters, Sr.  
R. Bentz Kirby  
P O Box 1346  
Orangeburg, SC 29116  
(803) 531-8844  
(Fax) (803) 531-3628

Attorneys for Appellant

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 27 2015  
**SC Court of Appeals**

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Court err by finding that the Plaintiff had presented no evidence of a genuine issue of fact showing gross negligence by the Defendant?
2. Were the actions and non-actions of the Defendant in fact grossly negligent when viewed in a light most favorable to the Defendant?
3. Did the Court err by ruling the actions of the bus driver were a proper exercise of discretion when there were no guidelines for him to follow during a foreseeable situation?

## STATEMENT OF CASE

This case was initiated by the filing of a Summons and Complaint captioned Jennifer Middleton, as parent and GAL for Jane Doe vs Orangeburg Consolidated School District Three, in Orangeburg County on September 26, 2012. [Complaint]. The Complaint alleged the Defendant was grossly negligent and breached its duties to the Plaintiff which resulted in damages suffered by the Plaintiff. [Complaint] The Defendant filed an Answer and Affirmative Defenses on January 23, 2013. It denied a breach of duty and plead the affirmative defense the alleged claims were barred by the South Carolina Torts Claim Act. [S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-78-10 et seq.] Discovery was undertaken by the parties and on October 11, 2013, the Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment together with two affidavits. [Motion for Summary Judgment]. The Plaintiff filed two opposing affidavits [Plaintiff's Affidavits of Janet Greene and Danny McDaniel] and the matter was heard by The Honorable James B Jackson, Sr on December 11, 2013. [Transcript 12/13/13] The Court issued its Order which granted Summary Judgment filed on February 5, 2013. [Order of 2/01/13]. The Plaintiff filed a Motion for Reconsideration on February 19, 2014. [Motion for Reconsideration] This Motion was heard by Judge Jackson on September 18, 2014. [Transcript 09/18/14] The Motion was denied and an Order was filed October 14, 2014. [Order of 10/14/14]. This Appeal followed.

## FACTS

On October 11, 2011, the Defendant was transporting the Plaintiff on a school bus from her home to the St James Gilyard Elementary School. The Defendant's school bus driver took an unscheduled stop because the Plaintiff had an urgent need to urinate. There were no facilities available so the school bus driver decided to make the Plaintiff urinate by the side of the road in front of the other students. [Complaint] This occurred in the ordinary course of taking the child to school and on a route which is said to have no public facilities. [Order p 2]. The driver had more than ten years experience and the Plaintiff was a student in the first grade. [Order p 2] The Plaintiff said her urge to urinate was so urgent she could not hold it until she got home. The other students, including other elementary and middle school students, began to laugh at the Plaintiff. [Order 01 p 3] The driver then made Plaintiff exit the bus and use the bathroom beside the bus. [Order 01 p 3, T#1 pp 9-10].

The Plaintiff filed a complaint on September 26, 2012, claiming that the actions of the Defendant were grossly negligent and subjected the Plaintiff to ridicule by other students. The Plaintiff alleged that she suffered humiliation, embarrassment, mental anguish and other damages. [Complaint] The Defendant filed an Answer and Affirmative Defenses on January 23, 2014, and alleged that it had not been grossly negligent and that it was immune from liability due to the South Carolina Torts Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-78-10 et seq. [Answer].

Discovery was undertaken and the Defendant made a Motion for Summary Judgment which was granted after argument. [Order 1, Motion for Summary Judgment] The Plaintiff filed a Motion for Reconsideration which was denied after argument. [Order 02, Motion for Reconsideration]

## ARGUMENTS

- I. The facts in the case do support a claim that the Defendant was grossly negligent and the Court erred in finding that there was no genuine issue of material fact.

The general law regarding the construction of statutes is applicable to all of the arguments in this Brief. It is well settled that "[t]he cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the legislative intent whenever possible." Strother v. Lexington County Recreation Comm'n, 332 S.C. 54, 62, 504 S.E.2d 117, 121 (1998). "All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that the legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute." Kiriakides v. United Artists Commc'ns, Inc., 312 S.C. 271, 275, 440 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1994). If the plain language of a statute gives rise to doubt or uncertainty as to legislative intent, the construing court looks to the statute's language as a whole in light of its manifest purpose. Ex parte Cannon, 385 S.C. 643, 654-55, 685 S.E.2d 814, 821 (Ct. App. 2009). Courts apply certain presumptions when divining legislative intent, including the "very strong" presumption that the legislature does not intend to overrule existing law absent an express intention to do so. *See* Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 88, 533 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2000); Hoogenboom v. City of Beaufort, 315 S.C. 306, 318, 433 S.E.2d 875, 883 (Ct. App. 1992); Columbia Real Estate & Trust Co. v. Royal Exch. Assur., 132 S.C. 427, 128 S.E. 865, 866 (1925). The court may additionally look to the statute's legislative history. Cannon, 385 S.C. at 655, 685 S.E.2d at 821.

This action is one brought under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-78-10, et seq. which is generally known as the South Carolina Torts Claim Act. A Plaintiff may recover for a loss, which is defined as, "bodily injury, disease, death, or damage to tangible property, including lost wages and economic loss to the person who suffered the injury, disease, or death, pain and suffering,

mental anguish, and any other element of actual damages recoverable in actions for negligence.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-30 (f). To be liable, the Defendants must have acted in a “grossly negligent manner.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60 (25).

In Etheredge v. Richland School District One, 341 S.C. 307, 534 S.E.2d 275 (S.C. 2000), the Supreme Court articulated the general legal standards applicable to cases such as this and stated:

A governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from the "responsibility or duty including but not limited to supervision, protection, control, confinement, or custody of any student ... except when the responsibility or duty is exercised in a grossly negligent manner." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(25) (Supp.1999). Gross negligence is the intentional conscious failure to do something which it is incumbent upon one to do or the doing of a thing intentionally that one ought not to do. Clyburn v. Sumter County District Seventeen, 317 S.C. 50, 451 S.E.2d 885 (1994); Richardson v. Hambright, 296 S.C. 504, 374 S.E.2d 296 (1988). It is the failure to exercise slight care. Clyburn, supra. Gross negligence has also been defined as a relative term, and means the absence of care that is necessary under the circumstances. Hollins v. Richland County School District One, 310 S.C. 486, 427 S.E.2d 654 (1993). Additionally, while gross negligence ordinarily is a mixed question of law and fact, when the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court. Clyburn, supra.

Summary judgment is appropriate when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the conclusions and inferences to be drawn from the facts are undisputed. SSI Medical Services, Inc. v. Cox, 301 S.C. 493, 392 S.E.2d 789 (1990). In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the evidence and the inferences which can be drawn therefrom should be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.*

As the Court of Appeals has noted in Marietta Garage, Inc. vs Department of Public Safety, 352 S.C. 95, 572 S.E.2d 306, (Ct. App. 2002), the standard of gross negligence is defined as “the intentional, conscious failure to do something which one ought to do or the doing of something one ought not to do; a relative term which means the absence of care that is necessary under the circumstances; the failure to exercise a slight degree of care; and where a person is so indifferent to the consequences of his conduct as not to give slight care to what

he is doing.” Citing Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 331 S.C. 192, 196, 500 S.E.2d 160, 163 (Ct.App. 1998).

In this instance, as in Etheredge, the trial court found there was no genuine issue of fact. A critical review of Etheredge and Hollins shows that the trial court was wrong in its conclusions. In the Etheredge case, the court took notice of the age of the two persons involved in the shooting. Both were in high school and the shooting occurred on the school campus. The school had at least four employees who monitored the halls and the teachers watched the students changing classes. There was also an intervention system to resolve disputes by students, and the school had no knowledge of the dispute between the two students. The court found that the failure to train an employee or to provide him with certain equipment did not create a genuine issue of fact when the failure to train was not the proximate cause of the injury. *Supra*, Etheredge at 341 S.C. at 311- 312.<sup>1</sup>

The case of Hollins however, involved an elementary school student who was only an eleven year old fifth grader. The child was suspended from riding the bus. The school sent a note home with the child which was never provided to the mother. The school did not call the mother. Further, there was a factual dispute whether or not the child would have been on the bus at all due to a scheduling change. The Court ruled that there was at least a factual dispute as to whether the school had provided slight care or not and the case was to be remanded to the trier of fact. *Supra*, 427 S.E.2d at 655-656. Clearly, the age of the children in the two cases was relevant as it is in this case.

---

<sup>1</sup> Clyburn the facts involved two high school students and an adult participant. Further, the school administrator attempted to diffuse the situation and the driver attempted to prevent the altercation. *Supra*, 451 S.E.2d at 887.

The trial Court noted in its Order, there were no known public restrooms on the route and the only policy the Defendant had was to rely upon the best judgment of the driver. The Defendant admits that Plaintiff stated she needed to urinate and could not hold the urge. The driver said that he considered making her wet herself. The court also found the other students were laughing at the Plaintiff. Finally, the bus driver determined that the only course of action was to make the Plaintiff pee on the side of the road. [Order; T#1 p 19 p 20; and Affidavit of Simmons.]

The other affidavit provided by the school said that there was “no specific policy or procedure related to students temporarily leaving the bus for emergency situations” such as the urge to urinate. The only policy was for the driver to use his best judgment. [Affidavit of Gilliard] Thus it is clear that the Defendant did not provide any guidance to the Driver other than to use his own good sense. Gilliard confirms that the driver was not trained to deal with this incident. [Gilliard aff]. See, S.C. Code Ann. §59-67-108. Additionally, the Defendant admits that the situation, despite no guidelines, could have been dealt with in a better manner. [Tr#1 p 11, p 14].

On the other hand, the affidavit of Janet Greene states the Defendant should have foreseen that a child would have the sudden urge to urinate and should have planned for this contingency. She also testified that the behavior of the bus driver endangered other children on the bus when the driver stopped on the side of the road. [Greene Affidavit.] Additionally, the affidavit of Danny McDaniel stated that the driver had a duty to operate the bus in a way which was safe for the children. [McDaniel Affidavit] This is a statutory duty pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §59-67-180. He also points out that the behavior of the bus driver was a violation of a statute because the driver directed a first grade child to expose herself and her privates to

the outside world and to the other children on the bus. He also failed to provide any cover or privacy. This violates the statute defining indecent exposure. S.C. Code Ann. §16-15-130 provides that: “(A)(1) It is unlawful for a person to wilfully, maliciously, and indecently expose his person in a public place, on property of others, or to the view of any person on a street or highway.” This event clearly was an exposure in view of the highway. Therefore, it is clear that the Defendant provided no training on how to react to a foreseeable situation. This is egregious because a first grader is involved. Rather than providing the driver with the proper tools and training, the Defendant simply relied on the driver’s best judgment. This failure shows the lack of slight care, or any care at all. [T#1 p 21; McDaniel Aff.]<sup>2</sup>

Therefore, a review of the applicable cases and statutes reveals that the Plaintiff did in fact raise a material issue of fact regarding the standard of care owed to a first grader when she was forced to urinate in public on the side of the road in front of the driver and other students. The actions of the driver and the failure for the Defendant to have a guiding policy for the driver placed the Plaintiff in an untenable situation. This was the proximate cause of her emotional damage, embarrassment, and psychological damage. This case is like that of Hollins v. Richland County School Dist. One, 310 S.C. 486, 427 S.E.2d 654 (S.C. 1993) where the school district was found liable for the death of a child walking home when the district failed to give proper notice to the student’s parent. The school sent a note home with the daughter. The court ruled this was not enough care for the court to rule as a matter of law that the school was

---

<sup>2</sup> It should also be noted when the impact of the Hollins case that younger children are entitled to special consideration. SC Code Ann. §63-15-30 provides that a family law judge is required to consider the child’s age and experience when determining a child’s preferences. See, Brown v Brown, 362 S.C. 85, 606 S.E.2d 785 (Ct. App. 2004). This principle of the law in the proper deference to be given to children illustrates why there is a genuine issue of fact whether the Defendant was grossly negligent.

entitled to a directed verdict. Thus this case should be viewed more like Hollins than Etheredge.

II. The Defendant's exercise of judgment was in fact grossly negligent.

As stated above, the only policy Defendant had was for the driver to use his best judgment in a crisis situation. [Affidavit of Gilliard, p 2. Tr#1 p 11]. While the Defendant claims this to be a good policy, it must be remembered that this situation is one where the Plaintiff was a first grader who was forced to expose herself in public and to urinate on the side of the road in front of her fellow students. [Order pp 2-3]. At the very least, some kind of cover could have been erected in order that she would have privacy. Perhaps the driver should have access to a radio to inform the Defendant of an emergency in order to provide for the proper intervention to occur. The Defendant could have a policy which clearly states the course of action to be undertaken by a driver in such a situation. Simply leaving the decision to a driver is no exercise of judgment at all. [T#1 p 17; T#2 pp 3-4]. The Plaintiff requested that the trial court take judicial notice of the Defendant's Bus Driver's Handbook and its requirement that the Bus Driver return to the nearest school in case of an emergency. Further, the driver is required to confirm with an administrator before he puts a child off a bus. [T#1, p 21]. The Plaintiff had to suffer this indignity from an authority figure who was supposed to be providing her with safe transportation. [T#1, p 23].

Additionally, the driver here simply decided to force the child to urinate in public. The Defendant admitted there was no public restroom available on this route, but made no provisions to deal with this foreseeable situation. Additionally, the driver did not try to find appropriate cover or shelter to afford the child some dignity; instead, he simply told her to get off the bus and pee in public. [Order #1 p 3; T#1 p 17; T#2 pp9-11].

The facts set forth above create a dispute with regard to material facts and summary judgment should not have been granted. The distinguishing factors are illustrated by reviewing the analysis of the court in the two cases which distinguish when a school does not use slight care and when slight care has been used. In the case cited above, Hollins v. Richland County School Dist. One, the Court found the case should be submitted to a jury because the school in effect created the situation which lead to the injury. In another case, Clyburn v. Sumter County School Dist. No. 17, 317 S.C. 50, 451 S.E.2d 885 (S.C. 1994), the court found that the school had used at least slight care and noted a significant difference in Etheredge and Hollins where the school had created the situation. In its discussion, the Supreme Court stated:

The factual circumstances here are readily distinguishable from Hollins. In Hollins, the school itself created the risk by failing to give adequate notice to the parent that it was suspending the eleven-year-old child from riding the bus. The school's only action to guard against the child being injured when crossing a busy highway on her way home from school was to send a note home with the student to notify the parent of the bus suspension. Here, Clyburn was a high school senior. Upon hearing of the altercation between Assailant and Clyburn, Atkins immediately took many steps to control the situation. He called Sylvia, Assailant's younger sister, and Clyburn into his office and discussed the seriousness of the situation with them. He warned Sylvia if her sister tried to board the bus again, her sister would face criminal charges. He talked with the assistant principal at Clyburn's niece's school and asked him to tell the niece to stay away from the bus stop where the initial altercation began. Atkins also attempted to contact the parties' parents. Additionally, Atkins did not notify the police the first time he was informed Assailant boarded the bus because he had successfully dealt with similar incidents in the past without involving the police and felt he could do so in this situation. The bus driver also kept a lookout for Assailant and stated that she would not stop the bus if she saw Assailant at a bus stop.

Clyburn, 451 SE2d at 888.

In the instant case we are in fact dealing with a situation like Hollins where the school, through the lack of policies and training contributed to a driver being unprepared for a foreseeable incident. The improper behavior of the driver created the situation which caused the damages. As in Hollins, the only action taken by the Defendant was one which afforded no

care to the Plaintiff and in fact created the situation. At the least, the driver could have provided some privacy for the Plaintiff. The manual states, he was required to return to the closest school or contact a supervisor. Another reasonable and responsible course of action would be to stop at a house he knew was safe and allow a mature middle school child on the bus take the Plaintiff inside to pee.

While the Plaintiff admits this is a difficult situation, this is the reason that the Defendant should have better training for the driver, provided appropriate procedures and guidelines and have been prepared for this foreseeable situation. The court should take note of the fact that the Driver's actions caused a first grader to have to expose herself on the side of the road which is entirely inappropriate. This behavior by the driver shows that no discretion was used. There is no evidence that the Defendant used any care other than stopping the bus and having the child pee on the side of the road. [T#1 pp 14, 19-20].

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