(S)

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

AUG 24 2015

The Honorable James B. Jackson, Jr.
Special Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2012-CP-38-01314
Appellate Case No. 2014-002402

Jennifer Middleton, as parent and GAL for Jane Doe.....Appellant,

v.

Orangeburg Consolidated School District Three.....Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Andrea E. White (S.C. Bar # 11891)
Meredith L. Seibert (S.C. Bar # 72935)
Duff, White & Turner, LLC
P.O. Box 1486
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Telephone: 803.790.0603
Facsimile: 803.790.0605

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In considering whether an order of summary judgment by a trial court was appropriate, an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. *David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006). The granting of summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Harris Teeter, Inc. v. Moore & Van Allen, PLLC*, 390 S.C. 275, 278, 701 S.E.2d 742, 243 (2010) "Summary judgment is proper when plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ." *Byerly v. Connor*, 307 S. C. 441, 445, 415 S.E.2d 796, 799 (1992). "In determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *David*, 367 S.C. at 247, 626 S.E.2d at 3.

A party opposing a motion for summary judgment may not rest on the mere allegations of his pleadings, but must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue of material fact to be considered by a jury. *Thomas v. Waters*, 315 S.C. 524, 527, 445 S.E.2d 659, 661 (Ct. App. 1994). If the party opposing summary judgment “fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to the party's case and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial,” *Carolina Alliance for Fair Employment v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing, & Regulation*, 337 S.C. 476, 485, 523 S.E.2d 795, 800 (Ct. App. 1999), the opposing party fails to establish the existence of a genuine issue of material fact “since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial.” *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 116, 410 S.E.2d 537, 546 (1991). Inadmissible testimony, including hearsay, suppositions, speculation, and bald allegations, are insufficient to create a genuine issue of fact. *Id.*; see also *David*, 367 S.C. at 250, 626 S.E.2d at 5 (stating “summary judgment is completely appropriate when a properly supported motion sets forth facts that remain undisputed or are contested in a deficient manner”). Thus, in opposing a motion for summary judgment, an appellant is required to point to specific admissible facts showing that there is a genuine issue of material fact to be considered by a jury. *Hoard ex rel. Hoard v. Roper Hosp., Inc.* 387 S.C. 539, 549, 694 S.E.2d 1, 6 (2010); *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 70-71, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2002).

I. THE SOLE ISSUE ON APPEAL IS WHETHER THE DISTRICT'S LACK OF A WRITTEN POLICY APPLICABLE TO THE PARTICULAR SITUATION WAS EVIDENCE OF THE LACK OF SLIGHT CARE ON THE PART OF THE DISTRICT.

In her Motion for Reconsideration of the trial court's Order, Middleton did not assert grounds other than the lack of a written policy. (R. p. 98, lines 16-19). She has, therefore, failed to preserve for appeal her other arguments and grounds in opposition to summary judgment. *Brock v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 411 S.C. 106, 767 S.E.2d 203 (Ct. App. 2014) (appellant failed to preserve issue for appeal when it did not argue it at hearing on motion to amend or alter judgment); *Doe v. Doe*, 370 S.C. 206, 634 S.E.2d 51 (Ct. App. 2006).³

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE DISTRICT BECAUSE MIDDLETON DID NOT ESTABLISH AN ISSUE OF FACT AS TO WHETHER THE DISTRICT FAILED TO EXERCISE SLIGHT CARE.

Middleton's claim is subject to the provisions of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, which is the exclusive remedy for all tort claims brought against governmental entities of the State, including public school districts. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-20(b), 30(d) & (e). The Act generally waives the sovereign immunity of the State and its governmental subdivisions for tort liability, but also maintains sovereign immunity for multiple governmental actions. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60. The Act further declares that the limitations and exemptions to tort liability of the State and its political subdivisions are to be liberally construed in favor of limiting liability. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-20(f).

³ Although Middleton should be limited to arguing this one issue, the District asserts, as additional sustaining grounds in this appeal, that the trial court correctly decided the District was entitled to summary judgment on the other grounds it cited in its Order. *See I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000) (respondent may assert any ground appearing in the record as an additional sustaining ground); *Sims v. Amisub of S.C., Inc.*, 408 S.C. 202, 214, 758 S.E.2d 187, 194 (2014) (same).

The Tort Claims Act provides that a governmental entity is immune from liability for any loss resulting from its “responsibility or duty including but not limited to supervision, protection, control, confinement, or custody of any student, . . . except when the responsibility or duty is exercised in a grossly negligent manner.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(25). Gross negligence is defined as “the intentional, conscious failure to do something which it is incumbent upon one to do or the doing of a thing intentionally that one ought not to do.” *Etheredge v. Richland Sch. Dist. One*, 341 S.C. 307, 310, 534 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2000); *Clyburn v. Sumter County Sch. Dist. No. 17*, 317 S.C. 50, 53, 451 S.E.2d 885, 887 (1994). South Carolina courts consistently have held that gross negligence is the failure to exercise even slight care. *Faile v. S.C. Dep’t of Juvenile Justice*, 350 S.C. 315, 331-32, 566 S.E.2d 536, 544 (2002); *Proctor v. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 368 S.C. 279, 294, 628 S.E.2d 496, 504 (Ct. App. 2006). The fact that a school district could have taken different or additional precautions in an effort to prevent an occurrence does not establish that the district failed to exercise slight care. *Etheredge*, 341 S.C. at 312, 534 S.E.2d at 278. The question is a matter of law for the court when the evidence supports only one reasonable inference. *Id.* at 310, 534 S.E.2d at 277; *Clyburn*, 317 S.C. at 53, 451 S.E.2d at 887-88.

A. Middleton Did Not Establish that the District’s Lack of a Written Policy Applicable to the Particular Situation Was Evidence of a Lack of Slight Care on the Part of the District.

The sole issue Middleton argued at the hearing on her Motion for Reconsideration was that the District was grossly negligent in failing to adopt a written policy governing a school bus driver should handle a situation when a child expresses an urgent need to relieve herself. (R. p. 98, lines 16-19). While Middleton did not assert this as a particular

theory of negligence in her Complaint, the trial court heard arguments on this claim and rejected it.

In support of her argument, Middleton submitted the Affidavit of Janet Greene, who declared herself an expert witness in school bus transportation. Ms. Greene opined that the District should have foreseen that a situation similar to this would arise and, further, that the District was grossly negligent in failing to adopt and implement a policy and in training Simmons how to manage the “emergency situation” that confronted him. (R. p. 104, ¶¶ 6-7). Ms. Green’s Affidavit is insufficient evidence to defeat summary judgment for two separate reasons.

First, the Tort Claims Act provides immunity to the District for failure to adopt a policy. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60 (4). That provision states, “The governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from . . . failure to adopt or enforce any law, whether valid or invalid, including, but not limited to, any charter, provision, ordinance, resolution, rule, regulation, or written policies.” If the District cannot be held liable because it did not adopt a particular policy, it follows that failure to adopt a particular policy cannot be evidence of gross negligence. Middleton cannot avoid the application of § 15-78-60 (4) by claiming liability under a different provision. Therefore, the District cannot be liable as a matter of law for failing to adopt a policy.

Second, Ms. Greene’s affidavit is incompetent as evidence to defeat summary judgment because her opinions are legal arguments. Expert testimony on issues of law is generally inadmissible. *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 66, 580 S.E.2d 433, 437 (2003). Properly qualified experts are permitted to offer opinions if such testimony “will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue.” Rule 702,

SCRE. If, however, such testimony is “not designed to assist the . . . court to understand certain facts, but, rather, [is] legal argument why the . . . court should rule” on the ultimate issue, it falls outside the parameters of Rule 702, SCRE. *Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 198, 560 S.E.2d 318, 325 (2002). *See also U.S. v. Chapman*, 209 Fed. Appx. 253, 269 (4th Cir. 2006) (unpublished opinion) (stating that under the similar Rule 702, FRE, expert testimony is permitted if it aids the court; however, if it undertakes instead to tell the trial judge or jury what result they must reach, then rather than aiding the court, it attempts to substitute the expert’s judgment for that of the court).

As in *Dawkins* and *Green*, Ms. Greene’s affidavit offers no “scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge [to] assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue.” Rule 702, SCRE. Instead, Ms. Green inappropriately attempted to usurp the trial court’s role by telling the court what, in her opinion, it should find: that the District “was grossly negligent in failing to adopt [and] implement policies governing the type of emergency conform [sic] Mr. Riley [Simmons].” (R. p. 104, ¶ 7). Even her reference to a selection from a 2004 “Federal School Bus Supplement” does not aid the trier of fact because it refers to a situation calling for a full evacuation of all the children from the bus in the event of a major crisis affecting all of them, such as fire, severe weather, hazardous spills, or downed power lines. (R. p. 112, 10.3.1). The situation in this case—a child needing to urinate who is allowed to leave the bus temporarily for that purpose—is not nearly so dire. Ms. Greene’s opinion is not supported by any facts in the record, constitutes a legal conclusion, and is, therefore, insufficient and inadmissible.

Whether the facts presented to the court give rise to a reasonable inference of gross negligence is a determination to be made by the court, not by witnesses, even those properly qualified as experts. Ms. Greene's affidavit does not create a genuine issue of fact and the District is entitled to summary judgment.

B. Middleton Did Not Establish that Simmons Acted Without Slight Care in His Supervision and Protection of Jane Doe.

The evidence presented by the District to the trial court establishes that Simmons exercised at least slight care when he considered and determined which option was best among those available to him and then took steps to ensure Jane Doe's safety and privacy. Middleton presented no evidence contradicting Simmons' description of the event and of his own actions; those facts remain undisputed. In opposing the District's Motion for Summary Judgment, Middleton relies exclusively on her own testimony and the affidavits of two purported expert witnesses who opined that Simmons acted in a grossly negligent manner.

Middleton did not witness the event and offered only her belief, as the mother of Jane Doe, that Simmons should have allowed the child to wet herself or driven back 30 minutes to the town and let the child enter a public restroom alone. (R. p. 51, lines 5-11; p. 52, lines 6-14; p. 53, lines 1-18). This is not only incompetent as evidence of the facts, but is also insufficient to establish that Simmons, in choosing a different course, failed to exercise slight care. As the trial court correctly stated, "At best . . . Plaintiff has only established that the District did not respond to the situation in the manner that Plaintiff preferred, which is not the applicable standard that the District must follow." (R. p. 7). See *Etheredge*, 341 S.C. at 312, 534 S.E.2d at 278 (stating the fact that the school

district might have done more or acted differently does not negate the fact that it exercised slight care).

As for the expert testimony, Janet Greene and Danny W. McDaniel submitted Affidavits declaring themselves as expert witnesses in school bus transportation and law enforcement, respectively. In addition to her opinion regarding the lack of a District policy, discussed *supra* at p. 15-16, Ms. Greene opined that the District was grossly negligent in failing to train Simmons how to manage the “emergency situation” that occurred. (R. p. 104, ¶ 7). However, the record contains no evidence whatsoever of the extent and type of training provided to Simmons by either the District or the State Department of Education, which trains and certifies school bus drivers. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 59-67-108 (requiring the certification of school bus drivers). Ms. Greene’s testimony consists solely of legal conclusions unsupported by facts in the record.

Mr. McDaniel opined that Simmons was Jane Doe’s “lawful supervisor” and owed a duty to her to properly supervise her and that Simmons breached the duty of care and was grossly negligent in causing her to urinate “in public.” (R. p. 134, ¶ 6). In his (legal) opinion, Simmons caused, allowed, aided and abetted Jane Doe to expose herself, thus causing her to commit the crimes of disorderly conduct and indecent exposure. (R. p. 134, ¶¶ 7-8). However, there is no evidence in the record that anyone, whether Simmons or other students on the bus or passersby on the adjacent road, saw Jane Doe as she relieved herself. Therefore, this opinion is unsupported by the evidence on record. Mr. McDaniel’s Affidavit contains no factual evidence in opposition to the facts presented by the District, but rather constitutes mere legal conclusions unsupported by the evidence.

For the same reasons discussed *supra* at pp. 15-16, the testimony by Ms. Greene and Mr. McDaniel on the issues of law is inadmissible. *Dawkins*, 354 S.C. at 66, 580 S.E.2d at 437. As such, it is incompetent to create a genuine issue of fact. *See Baughman*, 306 S.C. at 116, 410 S.E.2d at 546.

Middleton suggested to the trial court and continues to argue to this Court that Simmons “forced” Jane Doe to urinate “in public” and “did not try to find appropriate cover or shelter to afford the child some dignity.” (Appellant’s Brief at p. 8). Middleton submitted no affidavits or testimony from fact witnesses to support this claim, and the record contains no such evidence. This claim and the arguments based on it cannot, therefore, be credited.

Middleton’s opposition to the District’s Motion for Summary Judgment consisted solely of her own and her experts’ opinions that Simmons or the District should have acted in a different manner. The evidence presented by the District established that Simmons exercised more than slight care in considering how to handle the situation and in executing his plan to ensure the safety of Jane Doe and the other students as well as the protection of Jane Doe’s dignity and privacy. Middleton offered no opposing facts; the facts presented by the District regarding the incident remain undisputed and unopposed. “[S]ummary judgment is completely appropriate when a properly supported motion sets forth facts that remain undisputed or are contested in a deficient manner.” *David*, 367 S.C. at 250, 626 S.E.2d at 5; *see also Humana Hosp.-Bayside v. Lightle*, 305 S.C. 214, 216, 407 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1991) (“Where the plaintiff . . . makes no factual showing in opposition to a motion for summary judgment, the [trial] court is required under Rule 56,

to grant summary judgment, if, under the facts presented by the defendant, he was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”)

The evidence in this case fails to raise an issue of material fact as to whether the District exercised its duty in a grossly negligent manner. The record supports only one reasonable inference: Simmons exercised at least slight care in his supervision and protection of Jane Doe. Therefore as a matter of law, the District is entitled to summary judgment on Middleton’s claim of negligent supervision of Jane Doe.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE DISTRICT BECAUSE THE DISTRICT’S ACTIONS WERE SUBJECT TO DISCRETIONARY IMMUNITY, PRECLUDING LIABILITY AGAINST IT.

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